A-2 017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA	SID J. WHITE AUG 9 1985
CASE NO. 67,391	CLERK, SUPKEWE COURT
	I AD GIEIR

DONALD HANFT, M.D.

Defendant/Appellant,

vs.

CATHERINE VAN HOOSEAR PHELAN Plaintiff/Appellee

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MICHAEL J. MURPHY, ESQUIRE FOWLER, WHITE, BURNETT, HURLEY, BANICK & STRICKROOT, P.A. Attorneys for Appellant 501 City National Bank Building 25 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Telephone: (305) 358-6550

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The PATIENT sued the DOCTOR for medical malpractice arising out of a surgical procedure called a dilation and curettage (commonly known as a "D & C") which was performed on the PATIENT on August 14, 1976 (R. 1-3, A. 1-4). The PATIENT filed suit against the DOCTOR on August 1, 1983 (R. 1-3, A 1-4). The PATIENT alleged that following the D & C procedure she experienced physical problems, longer menstrual periods and premenstruation depression (A. 1-4). She further alleged that on or about August 4, 1981 another physician performed a hysterectomy on her at which time she learned that an intrauterine device had not been expelled as she thought during a previous miscarriage, but was instead lodged in and projecting through the wall of her uterus This condition was not discovered by Doctor Hanft on (A. 1-4). August 14, 1976 during the D & C which is the claimed act of negligence (R. 1-3, A 1-4). Although the PATIENT sued the DOCTOR within two years of August 4, 1981, she did not sue him within the four year limitation contained in Florida Statute Section 95.11(4)(b) and the trial court entered a judgment on the pleadings in favor of Doctor Hanft based upon the two year discovery rule contained in Florida Statute Section 95.11(4)(b) four absolute bar contained in the anđ upon the year aforementioned statute (R. 20, 51-52).

The PATIENT appealed to the District Court of Appeals and on June 25, 1985, the Third District held that the four year

- 2 -

ultimate repose provision of Florida Statute Section 95.11(4)(b) "would render the statute unconstitutional as applied" to the PATIENT (A. 1-4). The Third District specifically ruled that if:

> "... Mrs. Phelan did not discover and should not have discovered her cause of action until, as she contends, August 4, 1981, then the statute of repose would unconstitutionally deny Phelan access to the courts and cannot be used against her to bar her claim" (A 1-3).

The Third District reversed and remanded the case to the trial court (A 1-3). This appeal follows.

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution 1980 and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii) in that the District Court of Appeals of the Third District specifically held in this case that the four year ultimate repose provision contained in Florida Statute Section 95.11(4)(b) was declared invalid as applied to the PATIENT because it would unconstitutionally deny her "access to the courts and cannot be used against her to bar her claim" (A 1-3).

- 3 -

QUESTION PRESENTED

DOES THE FOUR YEAR ULTIMATE REPOSE PROVISION CONTAINED IN FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 95.11(4)(b) VIOLATE ARTICLE I SECTION 21 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION REGARDING ACCESS TO THE COURTS?

RELEVANT STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Florida Statute 95.11(4)(b) provides in pertinent part as follows:

An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within 2 years from the time the incident giving rise to the action occurred or within 2 years from the time the incident is discovered; or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence; however, in no event shall the action be commenced later than 4 years from the date of the incident or occurrence out of which the cause of action accrued. ...

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has previously determined in the case of <u>Cates v.</u> <u>Graham</u>, 451 So.2d 475 (Fla. 1984) and the Fourth District Court of Appeals has also decided in the case of <u>Cobb v. Maldonado</u>, 451 So.2d 482 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) that the four year ultimate repose provision is constitutional and can be applied to bar a medical malpractice claim if the malpractice is discovered by the patient within four years from the date of the treatment giving rise to the malpractice.

In the instant case the Third District Court of Appeals has specifically held that where the PATIENT as alleged in this case

- 4 -

did not discover and should not have discovered a cause of action until more than four years after the date of treatment giving rise to the malpractice the statute of repose unconstitutionally denies her access to the courts and is invalid and cannot be used against her to bar her claim (A. 1-4).

This is a case of first impression in the State of Florida with respect to the medical malpractice statute of ultimate re-This Court has specifically recognized the legislative pose. prerogative to enact such statutes of repose. Bauld v. J.A. Jones Construction Company, 357 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1978); Cates v. Graham, 451 So.2d 475 (Fla. 1984). In the instant case the statute of repose did not bar the patient's cause of action, but merely curtailed the time within which suit must be filed. This Court has sustained statutes of repose against constitutional attack when the statute as applied to a plaintiff leaves the plaintiff with sufficient time to institute suit after injury or discovery of the cause of action. Cates, supra. Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc., 458 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). In the instant case the PATIENT had four years from the date of the treatment and injury within which to file suit and the fact that she claimed she did not discover the malpractice until four years after treatment should be of no consequence.

- 5 -

ARGUMENT

Effective May 20, 1975 Florida Statute Section 95.11(4)(b) was amended by Section 1 of Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida. The amendment imposed the four year ultimate repose provision in the aforementioned statute.

Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida, dealt with the comprehensive subject matter of medical malpractice. The Preamble to Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida, stated as follows:

> "WHEREAS, the cost of purchasing medical professional liability insurance for doctors and other health care providers has skyrocketed in the past few months, and

> "WHEREAS, it is not uncommon to find physicians in high-risk categories paying premiums in excess of \$20,000 annually; and

> "WHEREAS, the consumer ultimately must bear the financial burdens created by the high cost of insurance; and

> "WHEREAS, without some legislative relief, doctors will be forced to curtail their practices, retire, or practice defensive medicine at increased cost to the citizens of Florida; and

> "WHEREAS, the problem has now reached crisis proportion in Florida, NOW THEREFORE,"

The aforementioned preamble of this Chapter of the Laws of Florida contains legislative recitals, findings and determinations which are presumptively correct. <u>Miami Home Milk Producers</u> <u>Association v. Milk Control Board</u>, 169 So. 541 (Fla. 1936); <u>Smithers v. North St. Lucy River Drainage District</u>, 73 So.2d 235 (Fla. 1954); <u>Seagram-Distillers Corp. v. Ben Greene Inc.</u>, 54 So.2d 235 (Fla. 1951); see also, Fla. Jur., Statutes, Section 107 and the cases cited therein.

This Court noted the presumptive correctness of such legislative findings as evidenced by Justice Brown's statement in Miami Home, supra at page 542 wherein he notes:

> Such legislative ascertainments and determinations of facts, unless plainly contrary to those matters of common knowledge of which the courts may take judicial notice, are entitled to such weight as to require clear allegation and proof showing the contrary before the courts would be justified in overturning them, thus casting the burden of allegation and proof upon the party attacking such legislative determinations; it being the general rule that all reasonable presumptions will be indulged in favor of the constitutionality of a legislative act. (Citations omitted)

In fact, the Supreme Court in the case of <u>Carter v.</u> <u>Sparkman</u>, 335 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1976) recited the aforementioned preamble with its legislative findings and stated:

> At the time of enactment of the legislation in question <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>, there was an <u>imminent</u> danger that a drastic curtailment in the availability of the health care services would occur in this state. The legislature's recognition of the crisis in the area of medical care and the need for legislation for the benefit of public health in this state is evidenced by the preamble to Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida,

> > * * *

The Legislature felt it incumbent upon itself to attempt to resolve the crisis through the exercise of the police power for the general health and welfare of the citizens of this State and accordingly enacted Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida to effectuate that purpose. Id. at 805-61.

When faced with a constitutional attack upon the laws enacted by Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida, this Court in <u>Carter</u> stated:

> Although courts are generally opposed to any burden being placed on the rights of aggrieved persons to enter the courts because of the constitutional guarantee of access, there may be reasonable restrictions prescribed by law. Typical examples are the fixing of a time within which suit must be brought, payment of reasonable cost deposits, pursuit of a certain administrative relief such as zoning matters or workmen's compensation claims, or the requirement that newspapers be given the right of retraction before an action for libel may filed.

Id. at 805.

See also Woods v. Holy Cross Hospital, 591 F.2d 1164 (5th Cir. 1979) wherein the Federal court also recognized the presumptive correctness and validity of the legislative findings contained in the preamble to Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida.

In <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) it was held that reasonable restrictions do not deny access to the courts:

> Obviously, a literal and dogmatic construction of said provision would deny both the Legislature and the Court the power to impose reasonable and logical limitations on the constitutional right to use the courts of Florida. It, of course, is assumed that the citizens who adopted the 1968 Constitution intended that the language therein be given the same construction as similar language in the prior Constitution in 1885.

> This Court has held that the right to maintain litigation is not absolute but, rather, is subject to reasonable restraints. We have

repeatedly upheld statutes of limitation, which prevented aggrieved persons from litigating for redress of injury, unless the suits were filed within a time specified by statute.

<u>Id</u>. at 6.

In <u>Holley v. Adams</u>, 238 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1970) this Court set forth five principles of constitutional construction which must be followed in measuring <u>any</u> legislative act against the constitutional yardstick:

"First, it is the function of the Court to interpret the law, not to legislate.

Second, courts are not concerned with the mere wisdom of the policy of the legislation, so long as such legislation squares with the Constitution.

Third, the courts have no power to strike down an act of the Legislature unless the provisions of the act, or some of them, clearly violate some express or implied inhibition of the Constitution.

Fourth, every reasonable doubt must be indulged in favor of the act. If it can be rationally interpreted to harmonize with the Constitution, it is the duty of the Court to adopt that construction and sustain the act.

Fifth, to the extent, however, that such an act violates expressly or clearly implied mandates of the Constitution, the act must fall, not merely because the courts so decree, but because of the dominant force of the Constitution, an authority superior to both the Legislature and the Judiciary. Amos v. Mathews, 99 Fla. 1, 126 So. 308 (1930)."

Id. at 404-5.

In the instant case we are dealing with a statute of repose which is somewhat different than the traditional statute of limitations, however, this Court has specifically recognized the validity of a statute of repose in Florida and has specifically ruled that they are constitutional. <u>Bauld v. J.A. Jones</u> <u>Construction Co.</u>, 357 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1978). In <u>Bauld</u>, Justice Boyd speaking for the Court recognized the distinction between the traditional statute of limitation and a statute of repose:

> Appellant calls our attention to the two interrelated twelve-year provisos contained the revised statute, and characterizes in them as being statutes of repose rather than statutes of limitation. We recognize the fundamental difference in character of these provisions from the traditional concept of a statute of limitations. Rather than establishing a time limit within which action must be brought, measured from the time of accrual of the cause of action, these provisions cut off the right of action after a specified time measured from the delivery of a product or the completion of work. They do so regardless of the time of the accrual of the cause of action or of notice of the invasion of a legal right. But Appellant presents us with no authority or argument to support her assertion that it is not within the power of the Legislature to enact such a statute.

> > * * *

[T]he revisions in question did not abolish any right of access to the courts; they merely laid down conditions upon the exercise of such a right.

Id. at 402.

Justice McDonald speaking for the Court in the case of <u>Cates</u> <u>v. Graham</u>, 451 So.2d 475 (Fla. 1984) cited the <u>Bauld</u> decision with approval in a medical malpractice situation:

> In Bauld v. J.A. Jones Construction Co., 357 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1978), we found constitu-

> > - 10 -

tional a parallel statute, subsection 95.11(3)(c). In doing so we held that a statute of repose is constitutional and does not bar access to the courts when it merely curtails the time within which suit must be filed, as opposed to barring the cause of action entirely.

Id. at 476-7.

See also Pisut v. Sichelman, 455 So.2d 620 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), Purk v. Federal Press Company, 378 So.2d 354 (Fla. 1980); Pullum v. Cincinnati Incorporated, 458 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

Specifically, in Pullum, supra, the First District stated:

The Supreme Court of Florida has consistently sustained such statutes of repose against constitutional attack where application of the statute leaves the plaintiff with sufficient time to institute suit after injury or discovery of the cause of action.

Most recently, the Fourth District Court of Appeals has had occasion to pass upon the four year repose provision in Florida Statute §95.11(4)(b) in the case of <u>Cobb v. Maldonado</u>, 451 So.2d 482 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) and Judge Glickstein on Motion for Rehearing stated:

> Florida's Supreme Court recently held that section 95.11(4)(b) is constitutional. Cates v. Graham, 451 So.2d 475 (Fla. 1984), affirming 427 So.2d 290 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). The court reiterated that a statute of repose is constitutional so long as it merely curtails the time within which a suit must be filed but does not outright bar a cause of action.

> > - 11 -

Id. at 483.

Any fair reading of the medical malpractice statute of limitations would reveal that the Legislature had two clear intentions:

1. In the case where there is no concealment, fraud or misrepresentation the cause of action must be filed within two years from the date of discovery and within four years absolutely from the date of the commission of the acts which caused the injury regardless of discovery.

2. In the case of misrepresentation, fraud or concealment suit must be filed within two years from the date of discovery if not discovered within four years from the date of the actions giving rise to the malpractice <u>and</u> all actions are barred seven years after the date of the rendering of the service which causes the injury regardless of discovery or lack of discovery of a fraud.

The inescapable conclusion from the enactment of §95.11(4)(b) is that the Legislature by enacting the statutes of repose intended to make an absolute cutoff for the filing of a malpractice action in the State of Florida. The legislative findings contained in the Preamble to the Amendment to Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida, make it abundantly clear that the Legislature acting through its police power for the benefit of the health and well-being of the populace of the State of Florida found a crisis in health care and took reasonable steps inclusive of the passage of these statutes of repose to insure the quantity and quality of health care in Florida.

The PATIENT comes forward with no allegations or proof that the Legislative findings were incorrect, that the crisis is over or that the intended purpose of the act was unreasonable or arbitrary and should not be enforced. Her simple argument is that it denies her the right to file suit in this particular case. Such argument can be advanced by any person who is barred from prosecuting a lawsuit because of a statute of limitations whether it is the traditional statute of limitations regarding discovery or an ultimate repose provision as contained herein. There are always going to be persons who fall outside the discovery cutoff or outside the repose provision. Under Article I Section 21 no one has an absolute right to maintain an action because as the Supreme Court stated in Kluger, "the right to maintain litigation is not absolute, but, rather, is subject to reasonable restrictions."



DECISIONS FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS

The most closely analogous case that has been found outside the State of Florida is <u>Dunn v. St. Francis Hospital Inc.</u>, 401 A.2d 77 (Del. 1979). <u>Dunn</u> is a malpractice action that was filed against a doctor and a hospital. The Delaware statute of limitations contained a three year repose provision and the Delaware Constitution, specifically Article I Section 9 of the Constitution of 1897 provided:

> All courts shall be open, and every man for an injury done him in his reputation, person, movable or immovable possessions, shall have remedy by due course of law, and justice administered according to the very right of the cause and the law of the land ...

<u>Id</u>. at 80.

The Supreme Court of Delaware found that the repose provision contained in the medical malpractice statute of limitations in Delaware did not violate its constitutional mandate of open access to the courts. Surprisingly enough the Chapter of the Delaware Statutes which amended the statute of limitations contained preamble findings similar to the findings contained in the Preamble to Chapter 75-9, <u>Laws of Florida</u>. (See <u>Dunn</u> footnote at bottom of pg. 79).

The Delaware Supreme Court went on to cite two cases from Arizona and Arkansas respectively, <u>Landgraff v. Wagner</u>, 456 P.2d 26 (Ariz. 1976) and <u>Owen v. Wilson</u>, 537 S.W.2d 543 (Ark. 1976) which are substantially similar to <u>Dunn</u>.

- 14 -

Illinois has a medical malpractice statute of limitations which contains almost the exact wording of Florida's statutes of limitations and contains the same provisions, namely, the two year discovery rule and the four year repose provision. In the case of <u>Anderson v. Wagner</u>, 402 NE2d 560 (Ill. 1979) the Supreme Court of Illinois had occasion to pass upon the four year ultimate repose provision of its medical malpractice statute of limitations and upheld both the discovery and repose provisions as constitutional. With respect to barring a cause of action before it is discovered by the injured party the Illinois court stated as follows:

> Although such a result - a cause of action barred before its discovery - seems harsh and unfair, the reasonableness of the statute must be judged in light of the circumstances confronting the legislature and the end which it sought to accomplish. We have noted above that various reports, commissions, and authors recommended that the "long tail" exposure to malpractice claims brought about by the discovery rule be curtailed by placing an outer time limit within which a malpractice action must be commenced. The 4-year limit of our present statute follows the recommendations of the Medical Injury Reparations Commission contained in its report to the Governor and the 79th General Assembly cited above. This recommendation was made following extensive hearings by the Commis-Our 4-year time limit is also within sion. the general area of limits that had been set by other States. Some are shorter than ours, and some are longer. It has not been demonstrated that the legislative action in establishing the 4-year outer limit within which to file a complaint for medical malpractice is unreasonable. We thus find no due process violation.

Id. at 568.

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