# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 67,391

DONALD HANFT, M.D., Defendant/Appellant,

CLERA

CATHERINE VAN HOOSEAR PHELAN,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

23

THOMAS J. CALDWELL, ESQ. BARKAS AND CALDWELL Attorneys for Appellee Suite 600, Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Telephone: (305) 374-0565

-and-

DAVID S. CURRIE, ESQ. GRAY, GILLILAND & GOLD, P.C. Co-counsel for Appellee 300, The Richmond 400 Bldg. 975 Johnson Ferry Road, N.E. Atlanta, Georgia 30342 Telephone: (404) 843-2800

####

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The application of the four-year period of ultimate repose of F.S. 95.11(4)(b) is unconstitutional as applied to the facts of this case. The doors to the courthouse were closed to the Plaintiff/Appellee before she even knew of the existence of a possible claim and therefore operation of F.S. 95.11(4)(b) as applied to the facts of this case is clearly unconstitutional. This case does NOT present a situation where the operation of the four-year ultimate repose provision simply shortened the limitation period but rather the four-year limitation period served to completely abolish the Plaintiff/Appellee's cause of action altogether without providing any alternate source of remedy to the Plaintiff/Appellee. This court has consistently ruled on several occasions that very similar statutes are unconstitutional when applied under such circumstances and there is no reason to rule differently in this context.

#### ARGUMENT

Ι

THE FOUR-YEAR ABSOLUTE LIMITATION PERIOD OF F.S. 95.11 MAY NOT CONSTITUTIONALLY DEPRIVE AN INJURED CLAIMANT OF ACCESS TO THE COURTS WHEN THE CLAIMANT FIRST RECEIVED NOTICE OF THE INCIDENT GIVING RISE TO THE MALPRACTICE MORE THAN FOUR YEARS AFTER THE INCIDENT GIVING RISE TO THE MALPRACTICE OCCURRED.

The instant suit was filed more than "four years from the date of the incident or occurrence out of which the cause of

action occurred," and would be barred except that, as applied to this case, this portion of F.S. 95.11(4)(b) is unconstitutional as being violative of Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution and of the Equal Protection and Due Process clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions.

The "ultimate repose" provision. in practical effect. closed the door of the courthouse to the Plaintiff/Appellee before she even discovered or should have discovered that the negligently performed the D& C Defendant/Appellant had procedure and left the IUD protruding through her uterus. Put another way, the four-year limitation period simply abolished the Plaintiff/Appellee's common law cause of action against the Defendant/Appellant before she knew it existed. The four-year limitation period therefore violates Article 1, §21 of the Florida Constitution:

> The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial, or delay.

In the instant case, the legislature has declared that the courts shall not be open to the Plaintiff/Appellee for redress of her injury, and the issue has therefore been squarely drawn.

Whether or not the legislature may close the courts to a particular class of claimants, in view of the express mandate of Article 1, §21, is a question which has engaged the increasing recent attention of this court. In each instance in which the legislature has attempted to close the door of the courthouse to a particular class of claimants, this court has

declared the statute violative of Article 1, §21. The polestar decision is, of course, KLUGER v. WHITE, 218 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973), in which this court held as follows:

We hold, therefore, that where a right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by statutory law predating the adoption of the Declaration of rights of the Constitution of the State of Florida, or where such right has become a part of the common law of the state pursuant to Fla. Stat., §2.-01 F.S.A., the legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of this state to redress for injuries, unless the legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown.

KLUGER has been faithfully followed in a number of contexts. FAULKNER v. ALLSTATE INSURANCE CO., 367 So.2d 214 (Fla. 1979); OVERLAND CONSTRUCTION CO., INC., v. SIRMONS, 369 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1979); GRIFFIS v. UNIT CRANE & SHOVEL CORP., 369 So.2d 342 (Fla. 1979)(declaring unconstitutional the twelve-year "ultimate repose" provision for product liability actions, §95.031(2), Fla. Stat.); DIAMOND v. E. R. SQUIBB AND SONS, INC., 397 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1981).

In OVERLAND CONSTRUCTION CO., INC., v. SIRMONS, <u>supra</u>, this court faced the identical problem presented in the instant case, in connection with the twelve-year "ultimate repose" provision contained in §95.11(3)(c). As here, the provision purported to bar the plaintiff's cause of action before it ever accrued. Applying KLUGER v. WHITE, <u>supra</u>, this court determined that the common law right asserted by the plaintiff had existed

prior to the readoption of Article 1, §21, in 1968. This court then noted:

[The statute] unquestionably abolished Jerry Sirmons' right to sue Overland for his injuries and provided no alternative form of redress. The only remaining issue under <u>Kluger</u>, therefore, is whether the legislature has shown an overpowering public necessity for this prohibitory provision, and an absence of less onerous alternatives.

369 So.2d at 574. This court then noted that the legislature had not expressed any perceived public necessity for abolishing the plaintiff's cause of action, and that the reasons advanced support of the statute neither unique to the in were construction industry nor "sufficiently compelling to justify the enactment of legislation which, without providing an alternative means of redress, totally abolishes an injured action." This person's cause of court, following KLUGER, therefore found the statute unconstitutional. As a result of this court's finding that no "overpowering public necessity" had been demonstrated, it did not reach the conjunctive question of whether "no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown."

public necessity" for the There is no "overpowering four-year "ultimate repose" provision of §95.11(4)(b) and the Defendant/Appellant pointed to The legislature has none. certainly has not made any findings that there was an "overpowering public necessity" abolish to the Plaintiff/Appellee's cause of action and no legislature could

make such findings in good conscience--since Statutes of Limitations of four years and greater are commonplace, and since litigants in Florida always had four years from the date of <u>discovery</u> of the malpractice to institute suit until the legislature revised the malpractice Statute of Limitations in 1972.

Which brings us to the second point regarding KLUGER and its progeny. In KLUGER this court made it perfectly clear that the legislature must make findings supporting two mimportant conclusions in order to escape the mandate of Article 1, §21. The legislature, according to this court, must show "[1] an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and [2] no alternative method of meeting such public necessity be shown." KLUGER v. WHITE, supra, at 4. In OVERLAND can CONSTRUCTION CO. v. SIRMONS, supra, the Supreme Court restated that proposition, and delineated its task as one of determining whether the abolition of a common law right "is grounded both on [1] an overpowering public necessity and [2] an absence of any less onerous alternative means of meeting that need." 369 So.2d at 573. In the absence of a specific finding by the legislature that there is no alternative available but to bar the instant Plaintiff/Appellee's claim altogether -- and there is no such finding--§95.11(4)(b) fails constitutional muster,

The Defendant/Appellant cannot sincerely advance any argument supporting the notion that "no alternative method of

meeting such public necessity" is available. Certainly there are less onerous alternative means of meeting the need to reduce medical malpractice insurance premiums--for example, the very things that the legislature recently considered that were sponsored by the physician lobbies, <u>i.e.</u>, abolition of joint and several liability, limitation on plaintiffs' attorneys' contingent fees, limitation on damages for pain and suffering, etc.

The "ultimate repose" provision of §95.11(4)(b) is, in the final analysis, arbitrary, capricious, and altogether unreasonable. The legislature has neither shown an overpowering public necessity for the abolition of the Plaintiff/Appellee's cause of action, nor has it shown that no alternative method of meeting any public necessity is available. If there is any doubt whatsoever on this score, this Court should defer to the Florida Constitution, not to the legislature. In the context of this case, the "ultimate repose" provision of §95.11(4)(b) clearly contravenes the constitutional mandate that the courts "shall be open to every person for redress of an injury." The statute would operate to deprive the Plaintiff/Appellee of her constitutional right of access to the courts and it should be declared unconstitutional as applied to the instant case.  $\frac{1}{}^{\!\!/}$ 

ΙI

Alternatively, it is contended that §95.11(4)(b) violates the Equal Protection and Due Process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article 1, §§2 and 9, of the Florida Constitution. There are two aspects of equal protection which are important here. First the classification made by the statute must not be arbitrary; it must be reasonable:

For a statutory classification to satisfy the equal protection clauses found in our organic documents, it must rest on some difference

 $\frac{1}{1}$  It is also noted that some types of medical malpractice, such as the malpractice committed in the instant case, will not be discoverable within four years because the effect of the malpractice will not manifest itself within that period of time. See, e.g., CITY OF MIAMI v. BROOKS, 70 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1954); VILORD v. JENKINS, 266 So.2d 245 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1969). For these types of injuries, §95.11(4)(b) will always allow the tortfeasor to escape before the commission of the tort can ever be discovered by the claimant. The statute, in effect, simply withdraws remedies for all delayed-reaction torts of the kind involved in this case. Such a statute is also violative to Article 1, §21, for reasons different than those expressed in KLUGER and OVERLAND CONSTRUCTION CO.:

To hold otherwise would result in the anomaly of fault without liability and wrong without a remedy, contrary to our sense of justice and directly conflicting with the express mandate of the Florida Constitution, Declaration of Rights, that "every person for any injury done him . . . shall have a remedy . . . ."

SIMMONS v. OWENS, 363 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), quoting SALVIN v. KAY, 108 So.2d 462, 467 (Fla. 1959).

that bears a just and reasonable relation to the statute in respect to which the classification is proposed.

ROLLINS v. STATE, 354 So.2d 61, 63 (Fla. 1978); GEORGIA SOUTHERN & FLORIDA R. CO. v. SEVEN-UP BOTTLING CO., 175 So.2d 39 (Fla. 1965). Second:

In order to comply with the requirements of the equal protection clause, statutory classifications must be reasonable and non-arbitrary, and all persons in the same class must be treated alike.

LASKY v. STATE FARM INSURANCE CO., 296 So.2d 9, 18 (Fla. 1974).

Closely tied to the foregoing requirements of the Equal Protection clauses of the two Constitutions is the following requirements, mandated by the Due Process clauses of both Constitutions:

> The test to be used in determining whether an act is violative of the due process clause is whether the statute bears a reasonable relation to a permissible legislative objective and is not discriminatory, arbitrary, or oppressive.

LASKY v. STATE FARM INSURANCE CO., <u>supra;</u> HARRELL v. SCHLEMAN, 160 Fla. 544, 36 So.2d 431 (1948).

The express purpose of Chapter 75-9 is the reduction of medical malpractice insurance premiums. We do not doubt that this is a permissible legislative objective. The means employed in §95.11(4)(b), however, are unreasonable, discriminatory, arbitrary, and oppressive as applied to the Plaintiff/Appellee. Neither does the statute treat all persons in the same class alike. Neither do the means chosen to reduce

insurance premiums bear any just or reasonable relation to that purpose.

The statute initially creates a class of persons which can be described generally as victims of medical malpractice. It creates a shortened Statute of Limitations of two years for all members of that class (which is perhaps a permissible means of reducing insurance premiums). It attempts to treat all persons within the class fairly by providing that suit may be brought within two years from the time the incident is discovered -- so that delayed-reaction victims have the same access to the courts as those who know of the malpractice immediately upon its occurrence. The statute goes on, however, to provide an arbitrary cut-off date of four years from the date of the occurrence--effectively closing the courthouse to the small percentage of delayed-reaction medical malpractice victims who simply cannot discover within four years of the occurrence (even "with the exercise of due diligence," in the words of the statute) that they have been a victim of malpractice.

There is nothing reasonable in such an arbitrary cut-off date. The statute discriminates badly against a small portion of the class created by the statute who are helpless to seek a remedy within the time allotted to other members of the class. The four-year cut-off also does not bear a just or reasonable relation the statute's purpose of reducing insurance toobjective of statute fairly premiums. The the may and

reasonably be obtained by allowing all victims of malpractice a period of two years from the date of discovery in which to bring suit. No reasonable construction of the objective of the statute, however, can support an arbitrary abolition of all causes of action which are not and cannot reasonably be discovered within four years from the date of the occurrence.

In the instant case, 95.11(4)(b) provides a total immunity for physicians committing malpractice which is undiscoverable at least four years. The arbitrary classification of the for statute falls on only those victims of malpractice who cannot discover within four years, even in the exercise of due diligence, that they have been victims of malpractice. The statute is arbitrary and capricious. It has no rational basis reasonably related the objective of the Act--and it to is therefore violative of the Equal Protection and Due Process clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions.

### III

#### CASES FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS CITED BY DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

It is unnecessary to consider authorities from other states on the issue presented because this court has already ruled on the same issue on several previous occasions and has consistently held that abolishing a victim's cause of action before the victim has notice of his claim is unconstitutional. OVERLAND CONSTRUCTION CO., INC., v. SIRMONS, <u>supra</u>; GRIFFIS v. UNIT CRANE & SHOVEL CORP., supra; DIAMOND v. E. R. SQUIBB AND reasonably be obtained by allowing all victims of malpractice a period of two years from the date of discovery in which to bring suit. No reasonable construction of the objective of the statute, however, can support an arbitrary abolition of all causes of action which are not and cannot reasonably be discovered within four years from the date of the occurrence.

In the instant case, 95.11(4)(b) provides a total immunity for physicians committing malpractice which is undiscoverable for at least four years. The arbitrary classification of the statute falls on only those victims of malpractice who cannot discover within four years, in theexercise even of due diligence, that they have been victims of malpractice. The statute is arbitrary and capricious. It has no rational basis reasonably related to the objective of the Act--and it is therefore violative of the Equal Protection and Due Process clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions.

## III

#### CASES FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS CITED BY DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

It is unnecessary to consider authorities from other states on the issue presented because this court has already ruled on the same issue on several previous occasions and has consistently held that abolishing a victim's cause of action before the victim has notice of his claim is unconstitutional. OVERLAND CONSTRUCTION CO., INC., v. SIRMONS, <u>supra;</u> GRIFFIS v. UNIT CRANE & SHOVEL CORP., supra; DIAMOND v. E. R. SQUIBB AND

SONS, INC., supra.

Furthermore, the foreign cases cited by Defendant/Appellant are distinguishable because they come from jurisdictions with less stringent constitutional requirements than Florida. In order for the Florida legislature to constitutionally abolish a cause of action, it must meet all the following criteria:

1. Article 1, §21, Florida Constitution: The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial, or delay; and

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